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The Fall of Tsihafé Te’ezaz Wildi-Giyorgis:
Reminiscences of the Victim!

BAHRU ZEWDE, Addis Ababa University

I. The Context

The year 1955 is remembered not only for the spectacular Silver Jubilee
commemoration of Hayld-Sellasé’s coronation but also for the downfall of
one of the most powerful political figures of post-War Ethiopia. Since his
attachment to the office of the zsihafé te’ezaz in the early 1930s, Wilda-
Giyorgis Waildi-Yohannes had gradually won Emperor Hayld-Sellasé’s
trust and confidence to the point where he almost came to impersonate him.
His career demonstrated the height to which a person of otherwise humble
origins could rise in imperial Ethiopia. Contributing to his meteoric rise
must have been precisely this humble background, which, by depriving him
of any powerful traditional base, made him attractive to the emperor who
could use his talent and then dispose of him if and when it became neces-
sary to do so. His industry, discretion, and mastery of detail were addi-
tional assets.” His closeness to the emperor during the five years of exile
(1936-1941) must also have contributed to a special rapport and mutual
appreciation between the emperor and his loyal servant.

In Hayli-Sellasé’s restored government, Wailda-Giyorgis came to occupy
two ministerial portfolios: that of the Pen and Interior. He had to give up the
latter in 1949 for Justice, which he kept until his demise. Ministerial appoint-
ments were rarely attended with power. It is thus a measure of Wilda-
Giyorgis’s political skill that he could invest his office, particularly the thither-
to purely clerical one of tsihafé te’ezaz, with so much power and conse-
quence. As tsihafé te’ezaz, he controlled ministerial access to the emperor
and transmitted orders emanating, sometimes in the form of vague intima-
tions, from the sovereign. The arrangement, Clapham observes, suited both

!'The first part of this article is a condensed version of a paper that I presented with
Mekonnen Tegegn the Seventh Seminar of the Department of History of Addis Ababa
University, held in Jimma in March 1997. I am grateful to Mekonnen Tegegn for put-
ting a copy of the document presented in the second part of this article at my disposal.

2 His diligence and mastery of detail are attested to by many who knew him, including Ato
Emmanuel Abraham, who described him soon after his fall as “the only Ethiopian min-
ister at all capable of running his office efficiently”: FO 371/113517, Killick to Ramsden.
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the tsdhafé te’ezaz and the emperor: “to one it gave the exercise of power, to
the other the avoidance of responsibility”.? Thanks to his mediation of royal
appointments, he was able to place his protégés in key positions in the bu-
reaucracy. Even the brothers Aklilu and Akaliwirq Habtd-Wald grew into
prominence under his patronage, although in the end they sided with their
brother, Mikonnen, when the two former allies became bitter enemies.

Given this dominant position that Walda-Giyorgis had come to acquire,
therefore, his abrupt fall from grace in April 1955 was bound to be a matter of
some surprise. With not too much exaggeration, the British ambassador called
it “a serious political crisis”, comparing it to the resignation of Malenkov on
the Soviet political scene.* True to Ethiopian political tradition, speculation
became rife as to the cause or causes for this sudden turn of events. Political
analysts of the event also advanced various possible explanations for Walda-
Giyorgis’s demise. Quite a few of these centered on the inevitability of the
occurrence in view of his ultimate dispensability and the alarm engendered by
his growing powers. Like all powerful politicians, he had created many enemies.
Resentment of his closeness to the emperor and opposition to the power that
he consequently managed to concentrate in his hands had been endemic
among the traditional aristocracy. This resentment came to the surface when
the idea of Wildi-Giyorgis’s marriage to the emperor’s eldest daughter, Prin-
cess Tanafidwirq, was mooted in the early 1940s. The balance was decisively
tilted against Wildi-Giyorgis when Mikonnen Habti-Wald, his erstwhile
ally, joined that opposition sometime in the early 1950s, possibly in 1953.

In a way, one can say that there was an inherent vulnerability in Walda-
Giyorgis’s position. Both Clapham and Markakis point to the way in which
Wildi-Giyorgis served as the emperor’s mud-guard, so to say. As Markakis
writes, “Imperial dignity and Haile Selassie’s monumental egotism require
scapegoats, and the brash Minister of Pen served that purpose for a long
while”.> “Not least among the Emperor’s achievements,” Clapham concurs in
a more charitable vein, “was the way in which he caused resentment both of
the nobility and of frustrated reformers to be directed against Walda-Giyorgis
rather than himself, thus remaining detached from policies for which he was
essentially responsible.”

The British embassy report on the event probably went further than most
in trying to give a multi-dimensional explanation to the event. The financial
scandals of Wildi-Giyorgis’s brother, Makonnen, who reportedly used his

3 Christopher Clapham, Haile Selasie’s Government (New York, 1969), p. 112.

* FO 371/113517, Busk to Macmillan, 6.5.55.

> John Markakis, Ethiopia: Anatomy of a Traditional Polity (Oxford, 1974), p. 218.
6 Clapham, p. 22.
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position as Custodian of Enemy Property to enrich himself, was one factor.
Wildd-Giyorgis’s known friendship with the Italian Embassy, the report
continues less convincingly, might also have been used against him. The
report also gives the threat posed by Wilda-Giyorgis to his opponents a
progressive content by speculating that he might have been “discovered ...
slowly gathering round him a group of younger men to whom he preached
not sedition but discontent with the slow progress of the present regime
[urging] his appointment as Prime Minister and virtual dictator, but always
under the Emperor, who would remain as a figurehead”.”

Significantly, the report ascribes to the Crown Prince Asfa Wisin, who re-
portedly had “his own following of younger men”, an important role in bring-
ing about Waildi-Giyorgis’s downfall. The former presumably confided to
Busk that “he was very pleased with the changes that had been made”. In a
subsequent “long private conversation”, he explained that Waldi-Giyorgis had
been dismissed because “he had been intriguing for twelve years”, adding that
“while he was good at his job, it was impossible to continue to endure a man,
who could never play straight”.? The British, who were confldently anticipat-
ing an enhanced role in state affairs for the crown prince in the revised consti-
tution that was due to be proclaimed as part of the Silver Jubilee celebrations,
even ventured the thesis that Wildi-Giyorgis was probably the victim of the
growing reconciliation between the previously estranged father and son.!°

It is conceivable that the crown prince was voicing the prevalent aristo-
cratic opposition to Wildi-Giyorgis rather than merely his own private
opinion. For the fall of Wildi-Giyorgis in 1955 was the climax of a long
period of political struggle in the upper echelons of power. The struggle
could be described as one between “hardliners” and “moderates”. The for-
mer group had such stalwarts as Ras Kasa, Ras Abbibi, and Birwdddid
Mikonnen Endalkachidw, the prime minister, while Wildi-Giyorgis led the
latter. The struggle appears to have first surfaced in 1947, a year that wit-
nessed the first major radical opposition to Hayld-Sellasé’s regime, thereby
forcing the ruling class to react and make adjustments in differing ways. This
was most dramatically reflected in two memos presented separately to the
emperor by Wildi-Giyorgis and the conservative group. The former, while
arguing for a harmonious fusion of the traditional aristocracy and the edu-
cated elite, underlined the need for strengthening the role of parliament. The

7FO 371/113517, Busk to Macmillan, 6.5.55.
8 Ibid.
9FO 371/113517, Busk to Macmillan, 19.5.55.
19FO 371/113517, Busk to Macmillan, 6.5.55; Ramsden (FO) to Busk, 3.6.55, quoting a
conversation with the Ethiopian ambassador in London, Abbabi Ritta.
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latter emphasized the traditional prerogatives of the aristocracy in all tiers of
provincial administration and argued that the important ministries of defence
and interior should be permanently reserved for it. In a veiled attempt to
frustrate Wilda-Giyorgis’s ambition, it also argued that the emperor should
keep the post of prime minister to himself.!!

The two groups seem to have differed not only in the kind of recommen-
dations they made for governmental reform but also in their perceptions of
the Eritrean issue, with Waildi-Giyorgis wary of the annexation agenda that
was being adumbrated soon after the establishment of the federation in 1952.
Wildi-Giyorgis had a special relationship with the Eritrean chief executive,
Dijjazmach Tidla Bayru. It was probably no mere coincidence that the latter
was dismissed from his post only a couple of months after Wildi-Giyorgis’s
fall. Confirmation of Wildi-Giyorgis’s more cautious, and ultimately wiser,
stand on Eritrea is provided in a 1993 interview of a former Unionist,

Qainnazmach Gila-Mikaél Bahta:

Before this problem [i.e. of Eritrea] was created, Tsihafé Te’ezaz
Wilda-Giyorgis urged on the emperor and the government that the
matter had to be handled with care and that the federation should not
be dissolved. But no one was prepared to listen to him. And, as we
have seen, the war continued.!?

Both groups, that of Wildi-Giyorgis and the aristocracy appear to have
engaged in a prolonged contest to win over the emperor to their side. Sea-
soned power broker that he was, Hayli-Sellasé appears to have tried to
maintain the balance until he was finally forced to move against Walda-
Giyorgis. The road to Wildi-Giyorgis’s demise might very well have
started in 1949, when the important ministry of interior was taken away
from him and given to his opponent, Ras Abbibi.!* Another significant
move in the erosion of Waildi-Giyorgis’s power was the take-over of con-
trol of propaganda and the press by Mikonnen Habti-Wild, who increas-

" For a detailed discussion of this, see Mekonnen Tegegn, “A Short Biography of Tsehafe
Tezaz Wildi-Giyorgis Walda-Yohannes (1901-1976)” (Addis Ababa University: His-
tory, 1992), pp. 41 ff. Of particular interest are the documents in Appendices II and III,
representing the two memos submitted to the emperor in March and April 1947.

12 Muday, Magabit 1985 Ethiopian Calendar, p. 16.

13 British records portray this as having been engineered by, or at least done with the
consent of, Wildi-Giyorgis, who was happy “to relinquish a post which he had found in-
creasingly embarassing” as well as “to bring about the eventual discredit of Ras Ababa”,
who had proven himself to be rather incompetent in administration: FO 371/73676, Las-
celles to Bevin. But this interpretation of the event is far from convincing. The appoint-
ment of Waldi-Giyorgis’s protégé, Kefle Ergatu, as vice-minister in the same ministry
seems to have been designed to act as a check on the new minister, however.
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ingly emerged as the rallying point of the conservative opposition. This was
finalized by September 1954 but the process might very well have started
earlier.! Finally, the long absence of Wildi-Giyorgis from Addis Ababa in
1954, when he accompanied the emperor on his tour of the United States
and Europe, provided his opponents with the opportunity to consummate
their plot for his downfall. The special attention that Waildi-Giyorgis got in
the Western press as well as in official receptions might also have swayed
the emperor into finally moving against his powerful minister.!®

The 13-page document printed here deals with the events of April-May
1955 — the finale, so to say, of Wildi-Giyorgis’s downfall. It is extracted from
the 127-page memoirs of Tsdhafé Te’ezaz Wildi-Giyorgis. It is in Walda-
Giyorgis’s own hand-writing and has some later additions and interpolations,
as well as some underlining with red ink, all reportedly by the author him-
self.’® The document is written with a degree of detachment that is all the
more remarkable in view of the agony that the event must have caused the
author. Interestingly, he entitles the section dealing with the crisis that rele-
gated him to the political backstage: “New Era”. It sets the atmosphere of
crisis that prevailed on his return from the American tour, faithfully records
the forces ranged against him, and reaches its high point with the second of
three memorable audiences the author had with the emperor.

The document leaves one in no doubt that Makonnen Habtid-Wild was the
mastermind of the whole plot. Yet, the two antagonists, Mikonnen and
Wildi-Giyorgis, maintained an outward show of decorum, choosing to fight
it out mainly through surrogates. There was apparently also a commercial
dimension to it, the pro-Mikonnen Harari merchant Abdussamad ranged
against the pro-Walda-Giyorgis Eritrean Unionist businessman, Kékian.

The Church, more specifically the two archbishops Abund Basilios and
Abundi Téwotlos, appear to have played something of a mediating role. As the
tension started to build up, first to broach the issue was Abund Basilios, who
asked Wildi-Giyorgis if there was something wrong in his relations with the
emperor. The abun was the only other person present during two of the three
audiences (on April 25, May 6, and May 13) Walda-Giyorgis had with the
emperor and in fact arranged the second and most important one. Abund

14 See, respectively, Taddasa Nagash, “The Office of the Sahafi Tizaz and the Personality of
Walda Giyorgis, 1941-1955”, BA thesis (Haile Sellassie I University: History, 1973), p.
23, and Mekonnen, p. 52.

15Richard Greenfield, Ethiopia: A New Political History (London, 1967), p. 296; Taddasa
Nagash, p. 26.

16 The leather-bound document was kept with the author until his departure for England
(after suffering a stroke) in 1974, when he bequeathed it to his eldest son, Ato Assifa
Waldi-Giyorgis.
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Téwoflos was also one of the few people who visited Wildi-Giyorgis when
he fell ill the day after his dismissal. He did this after consultations with the
emperor. During the final departure of Wildi-Giyorgis, he felt clearly dis-
tressed and told Waildi-Giyorgis that he had expressed his feelings to the em-
peror in tears.

Undoubtedly, the document’s greatest merit is in the insight it gives us into
the relationship between emperor and zséhafé te’ezaz and the trauma the
separation after so many years of working together must have represented to
both.'” A creation of the emperor, Wildi-Giyorgis could not believe that his
master, whom he trusted so much, could turn his face against him on the basis
of what he considered were mere slanderous allegations. If he provoked ha-
tred, it could only be in the course of working unreservedly for him. Least of
all did he expect him to give so much weight to the accusations of Mikonnen,
AKklilu, and Ras Abbibai.

What exactly severed the relations of the two partners in political power is far
from clear. In their first audience, the emperor presented the case as follows:

Although We Ourselves told you that both your heart and feet have
become increasingly distant, you do not seem to have given it much
weight. You have ignored Our repeated request to divulge what it
was you promised to tell Us in London. You have neglected your
work and your character has changed. Since this might be because of
overwork and in order that you might correct yourself, We have de-
cided to transfer you to another post.

The “London promise”, which apparently perturbed the emperor very
much, remains something of a puzzle in the whole episode. At the begin-
ning of his account, Wildi-Giyorgis writes that the emperor had raised the
matter as they were travelling from Malta to London. The minister had
replied that all the essential matters had been exhaustively discussed. In the
course of the May 6 audience, however, he revealed that he was only
speaking in exile code language about certain government affairs.

This, admittedly, is not very helpful. But the fact that the issue was first
raised following Wildi-Giyorgis’s report to the emperor on his conversation
with Ddjjach Tadla Bayru raises the possibility that it might have had some-
thing to do with the Eritrean question. There are three other points raised in
Wildi-Giyorgis’s memoirs — all related to the European trip — that seem to
help explain the troubled relationship between the emperor and his most
powerful minister. First, it was alleged by his opponents that Wildi-Giyorgis

17 Busk, who wrote that Wildi-Giyorgis’s dismissal was “to be regretted”, added: “He is one

of the few ministers of any capacity, industry or intelligence ... it must have been a great
wrench to the Emperor to part with him”: FO 371/113517, Busk to Macmillan, 6.5.55.
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had been given precedence over Prince Mikonnen in decorations. Secondly,
and even more seriously, they accused him of communicating secretly with
Churchill. Thirdly, he reminded the emperor in the course of his long defence
of his earlier statement that he stood to gain nothing from all the attention
shown him at Brown Hotel in London. All the above seems to underline the
rather subterranean level at which the battle was fought. A few other points
that Waldi-Giyorgis makes in his eloquent defence of his conduct and career
are also comprehensible only to the initiated. In other respects, however, that
self-defence is quintessential and poignant.

The fall of Wildi-Giyorgis was attended by three shum sher (as cabinet re-
shuffles were known in imperial days): the first in May 1955, which removed
him from his powerful post and the other two in June and July, when the
power realignment could be said to have been consummated. Mikonnen re-
placed Wilda-Giyorgis as power broker. But he did not last long in that posi-
tion. He fell victim to the abortive coup of 1960, ironically led by one of the
beneficiaries of the 1955 reshuffle, Brigadier General Mingestu Neway. He
endured long enough, however, to help his brother Aklilu rise to the post of
prime minister which he continued to occupy until 1974. But Aklilu scarcely
attained the stature of Walda-Giyorgis. As for Mikonnen, no sooner had his
ascendancy been established than expressions of concern and alarm were
heard from various quarters.

The document presented here is one of rare historical value. It is not very
often in Eth1op1an history that a political figure of Wilda-Giyorgis’s calibre and
consequence gives his own personal account of his downfall. Like all personal
accounts, it can not be taken too literally. Recorded as they are after the event,
some of the conversations may have too much of the author’s own projec-
tions. Yet, it is this very same personal touch that conveys more eloquently
than the best historical narrative the human drama involved in such an event.

Moreover, its personal angle aside, the document gives us a rare insight
into the politics of Hayli-Sellasé’s Ethiopia as well as the personality of the
emperor himself. The alignments in the power struggle that went on in the
upper echelons of power, the mediating role of the Church, the balancing
act of the emperor, the anguish of the estranged partners in power (emperor
and sihafé te’ezaz) - all these are illuminated through the pen of someone
who was so close to the event described. Above all, it is the sense of deco-
rum that prevailed throughout the whole crisis that forces us to reflect on
the changing political cultures of 20" century Ethiopia. In comparison with
the unceremonious disposal of undesirable political elements in post-1974
Ethiopia — be they actual or potential opponents or loyal servants who have
outlived their usefulness — the dismissal of Wildi-Giyorgis, on the basis of
his own account, strikes us by its comparative civility.
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I11. Translation of the Document

1955
New Era

Preface

After we returned from our American trip,'® the sky was slightly overcast.
Soon after that , it became necessary to prepare for a trip to Europe. I had
to go frequently to the Foreign Ministry in connection with the pro-
gramme. Makonnen H[abtd]-W[ild]'?, Aklilu H[abtd]-W[4ld]*® and I meet
fairly often. There was the matter of Abdussimid and Kékiyan?! that I had
discussed earlier with Mikonnen H[abti]-W[ild].This was because he was
doing it secretly. I must have told Aklilu what Mikonnen was doing secret-
ly. I have told it to M[dkonnen] H[abtd]-W[ild] himself too.

To begin with, after all had been set for the American trip, when the escort
was being selected, I requested to be excluded; my mother should have some-
one to attend to her funeral. My request was denied. I asked to be excused
from the second, i.e. the European, trip? as well. That too proved impossible.

On the way [to Europe], as we were travelling by ship from Malta to Eng-
land, T reported everything that I had discussed with D[djjazmach] Tidla
Bayru? in Bishoftu?* on the question of Eritrea. I was ordered to seek ways of
concluding the matter when I meet with Aklilu. The options have been indi-
cated in the memorandum. Then I was asked the question: “what was it that
you had said we would talk about in London?” Since there was nothing that
had not already been discussed, I replied that there was little of consequence
to add. Babasé(?)* has likewise been forgotten.

18 A reference to Emperor Hayld-Sellasé’s visit to the United states, which lasted from 19
May to 3 August, 1954, and also included Canada, Mexico, Greece and Yugoslavia.

9 Minister of Finance and of Propaganda (as Information was then known). Wildi-
Giyorgis has the habit in the text of sometimes writing only the initials of names or
titles, as H.W. for Habti-Wild in this case.

20 Mikonnen’s younger brother and Minister of Foreign Affairs at the time.

21'Heads of two rival merchant families, Abdussamad of Harar and Kékiyan of Arqiqo,
homeland of the 7a’ibs entrusted with the control of Massawa in Ottoman times.

22This took place in October and November, 1954, and included France, Holland,
Germany, Sweden, Denmark, Norway, Austria and Switzerland.

23 Chief Executive of Eritrea under the federal arrangment until forced to resign in July
1954 and replaced by Bitwdddid Asfaha Walda-Mikaél, who engineered the absorp-
tion of Eritrea into Ethiopia in 1961.

24 Also known as Debre Zeit.

25 An ambiguous reference.
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Before we left for England, I had heard that quite a few audiences have
been given [by Janhoy] to Mikonnen H[abta]-W[ald], [Fitawrari] Sahlu De-
fayé, and Aklilu H[abta]-W[ald] regarding me. R[as] Abbaba?®, Blirwdiddid]
Mikonnen?’, Ras Kasa®®, Blitwdiddid] Andargé?* were also privy to the mat-
ter. I found Abba Hanna® to be very much of an intriguer.

Sahlu Defayé told F[itawrari] Filliga: “He is being closely watched and I
have been ordered to monitor his movements”. The implication was that
Filliqa should avoid me and others too should not get too close to me.

It was said that M[dkonnen] H[abtd]-W[ald] had ordered guards to watch all
those coming to my house.

Mr. Robert and Mr. Grabwaski’!, president and judge of the High Court,
stated that they were invited by M[akonnen] H[abtd]-W[ald] to do surveil-
lance work and to transmit everything that they knew.

Things were ripening. Mikonnen W[ildi]-Y[ohannes]*? lent his car to
Gleneral] Mir‘ed®. Speculation ran rife. A letter was written to Mired
through Clolonel] Assifa, the deputy chamberlain. Everything was exaggerat-
ed. Complaints were made to Ras Adifresaw®*. His Holiness Abuni Basili-
0s®® called me and asked me whether there was any bad feeling between me
and Janhoy®®. T told him that there was nothing that I knew of, but that
Janhoy had summoned me once to tell me that he felt that both my feet and

26 Ras Abbibi Arigay, Minister of Interior at the time, appointed the first Minister of
National Defence in the shum-sher of June 1955, which seems to have been a follow-
up of that of May involving the fall of Wilda-Giyorgis.

27 Ras Bitwiddid Mikonnen Endalkachiw, the rather ineffectual Prime Minister at the
time, given more to literary pursuits than to political activity.

28 Le‘ul Ras Kasa Haylu, second cousin of Emperor Hayld-Sellasé and his close confi-
dant and companion.

2 Ras Bitwéiddid Andargachiw Misay, son-in-law of the emperor (married to his eldest
daughter, Princess Tanaffidwarq) and his enddirasé (representative) in Eritrea.

30 The emperor’s father confessor and reputedly also keeper of his purse.

31Tt has not been able to establish the exact identity of these two apparently British
judges.

32 Brother of Wildi-Giyorgis and who, as Custodian of Enemy Property, is reported to
have amassed a huge personal fortune.

33 Brigadier General Mir’ed Mingisha, made Chief of Security in the Ministry of Interi-
or in the June 1955 shum sher.

3* An elderly and respected member of the aristocracy.

35The archbishop who was to become Ethiopia’s first patriarch in 1959 when the Ethio-
pian Orthodox Church was freed from its centuries-old dependency on the Alexan-
drian patriarchate.

36 A deferential term of reference to the emperor, used either in the second or third per-
son singular.
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my heart were becoming remote, and that I had replied that I had never come
without being summoned and that I was on the other hand busy in my office
doing something that I should have done a long time ago, that is devising
ways to reform the operations of the Ministry of Justice. Outside, however, I
told the abun about the intrigues and calumnies of Mikonnen H[abti]-
WTald] et al.

I was saying this in all sincerity. Since I have put my entire trust on Janhoy
and if I incurred the hatred of anyone it would be because of him, I did not
suspect that he would abandon me on the strength of people’s allegations, least
of all those of Mikonnen H[abti]-W{[ald], Aklilu, and Ras Abbaba!!!

On another day, I asked Abund Basilios not to hide from me anything that
he might have heard. He replied that there was nothing other than the fact that
Abba Hanna had told him that Janhoy was distressed because T[sihafé]
Tle’ezaz] Wildi-Giyorgis and Mikonnen H[abta]-W[ild] had quarreled.
Then we parted.

While this was going on, I was shown all the courtesy befitting my status
and rank whenever I was occasionally summoned. My Lent dergo®” was sent
without fail. Was it to lull my suspicion? For my part, I was only expecting
that, as was his wont when my adversaries were persecuting me, Janhoy
would soon reveal to me that he had deliberately shunned me for a few days
in order to find out the truth himself. The Book tells you not to put your
trust on people.

Under the direction of Mikonnen H[abti] W[ild] and Co., Abdussimid
and other Adiré propagated all sorts of false allegations in the city in order to
estrange me from the public. 4 mi[llion] Berr was alleged to have been kept in
a foreign bank account; Makonnen W[ilda] Y[ohannes] was alleged to have
embezzled 7 mi[llion] Berr. To tarnish his name, Limma W. Gibriél*® and
others were used to spread the rumour that the matter was under investiga-
tion.

To gauge public reaction, rumours were circulated first about my impris-
onment, then about my being put under house arrest. But there was nothing on
my part or any other person’s part.’’ Who deserved to be suspected of or
charged with [embezzling] money? I was surprised that they expected people
to believe these allegations. Even as I was burning with fever,* lying down

37 Previously referred to the provisions supplied by the populace to visiting government
officials; in this context having the meaning of “bonus”.

38 Who was appointed Vice-Mayor of Addis Ababa in the shum sher that accompanied
Wala-Giyorgis’s downfall.

39 Underlining in the original.

#0The Amharic is ambiguous here, but the phrases that follow suggest fever rather than
impetuosity.
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under anaesthesia ready to be operated on, I did not stop cursing in my sub-
conscience those thieves who idolized money and sought to enrich them-
selves by fleecing Ethiopia. I could not but wonder that the authors of these
allegations were people whom I have known in times both of happiness and
sorrow but whose conscience has now deserted them. Earlier, they had fab-
ricated a rivalry with Prince Midkonnen*! over decorations while we were in
England; this now graduated to the false allegation that Wilda-Giyorgis was
discovered communicating secretly with Churchill.

I fell ill during Passion Week. I could not go to church for Easter service.
So as not to be a problem to others, I forbade people visiting me in my house.
But I received visitors regularly in my office. I heard that all my movements
were being monitored. I took my leave of Janhoy by telephone through
Co[lonel] Mikonnen*? and went to Bishoftu. I stayed there for a week. A
keeper of the Fairfield Villa visited me with a telephone message from Abba
Hanna. I was in bed. Even while thus ill, I was working on the reform of the
Ministry of Justice.

On Monday, Miyazya 17 [April 25], I went straight to my office in Addis
Ababa. After working for a while, I put in an envelope for presentation to
Janhoy the draft on the Ministry of Justice I had prepared at Bishoftu and
went to the palace to pay my respect. I heard that Janhoy was having a meet-
ing with them*, with the exception of Le’n/ Ras Kasa. I stayed outside until I
was called. Janhoy was alone with Abund Basilios in what was known as the
Green Salon*.

After a while, Janhoy said to me: “Although We Ourselves told you that
both your heart and feet have become increasingly distant, you do not seem
to have given it much weight. You have ignored Our repeated request to di-
vulge what it was you promised to tell Us in London. You have neglected
your work and your character has changed. Since this might be because of
overwork and in order that you might correct yourself, We have decided to
transfer you to another post.”

I replied that, as for the first I had never come without being summoned,
and as for the second, since it was routine government work I did not see the
need to bore [Janhoy] with it. I asked for forgiveness and begged to be spared

4'The emperor’s second, and favourite, son, who died in 1957.

2 Colonel Mikonnen Dinigi, Chief Chamberlain.

3 A veiled reference to the author’s enemies.

* One of the rooms in the Giniti Le®ul Palace; it attained particular significance in the
course of the abortive coup d’etat of 1960 when Brigadier General Mingestu Neway
and his brother Girmamé Neway massacred the hostages that they had kept there.
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from the planned assignment. I was told that that was impossible and that I
must first report for duty at my new post.*>

I then asked him whether the move reflected his wish or whether it was in-
tended to please others. He told me emphatically, as if to say “Don’t you
know me?”, that he had reached the decision on his own after a long delibera-
tion and that there was nothing he would do solely to please someone else.
Then I said: “If it is your pleasure, well and good; May you reign forever!”
But I reiterated the point that I do not have any assets, not even money
amounting to one thousand berr.

I went out. I was called to the “Appointments Room”. Ras Abbiba,
Blitwiddédd] Mikonnen and Gibra-Wild*® were there. Gibri-Waild read to
me what he said was Janhoy’s word, repeating his complaints and appointing
me as Governor-General of Arusi.

I said: “The word comes from you two and my heart refuses to accept it. I
was, still am and will always be a loyal slave of Janhoy. I obey his command.”
I bowed and left the room. At that moment, I remembered the words of the
Lord: “You have come with swords and clubs to seize me like a thief. Yet I
was always in your midst; you did not seize me while I was teaching in the
temple.”

This is no exaggeration (?).* The gebbi was in turmoil; the chief of the
guards was all confusion; many Bodyguard officers were tensed up; Ddjjach
Misfen Seldshi*” was ready to bolt. All this was quite revealing. It is very
difficult to describe the situation. After many years of striving, everything
was accomplished, in its own time. Following the appointment, Cinzano
was offered; then I went home. The new rs[dhafé] t[e‘ezaz], Tafirawarq,
and Kintiba®® Kibbida®' paid me a visit soon after that. Blalambaras]

#5The parenthetical phrases in the Amharic (in this and the following paragraphs) indi-
cate later insertions.

* Made deputy tsihafé te’ezaz in the May 1955 shum sher, later to acquire prominence
as owner of the first high-rise building (seven stories) in Addis Ababa.

# A rendering of Luke, chapter 22, verse 52: “Am I leading a rebellion, that you have
come with swords and clubs? Everyday I was with you in the temple courts, and you
did not lay a hand on me.”

*8The Ambharic is not clear here.

* Governor-General of Kafa province, replaced Ras Abbibi Arigay as Minister of Inte-
rior in July 1955.

59 A title reserved initially to Gondir and later extended to Addis Ababa, equivalent to
Mayor.

S Kibbidi Tisimma, replaced by Blatta Ziwdé Bilaynih as mayor in the May 1955
shum sher.
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Mahtimi-Sellasé>? [also] came. None of the ministers came. In addition, my
[baldiriboch]®® B[latta] Mirs°¢®* and C[olonel] Tamrat>® came. Aklilu and
Akalawirg®® returned from outside on the morrow, Tuesday. It was evident
that it was a half-hearted gesture. All my friends had come to my house.

On Tuesday, Miyazia 18 [April 26], I went to the gebbi as usual and re-
turned for lunch. That morning it was the shum-sher of Dijjach Kibbadi>
and others. Blatta Ziwdé became kantiba. Blitwiddéid] Mikonnen had me
called in the presence of Ras Abbibi and told me that I had been ordered to
hand over the seal and all documents to Aro Gabra-Wild. I asked him wheth-
er I should tell this to all who asked me when I went outside. As he did not
respond, I left. Gabra-Wild followed me and asked me when I was going to
hand over to him. I told him that I would do that only after consulting the
lord [i.e. Janhoy].

The matter was closed and I went home. During lunch, I ate something
bad and I had bloody diarrhea. I had a temperature of 40° on Miyazya 19 and
20 [April 27 and 28]. T heard that in the palace and in the city it was inter-
preted as pretense or a sign of indignation. On Wednesday, Miyazya 19
[April 27], T had Ayaléw>® called. He brought me the seal. I could not write a
note. I had him write it for me. I put my initials on it and sent the seal, saying
that, since I was ill, the person who receives it should do so on oath, as I had
done, and that it should be initialled for him too. Ayaléw was ordered to
spend the night in his office with the seal. The following day, on Miyazya 20
[April 28], I heard that Abba Hanna officiated the handing over [of the seal]
on oath. The person who received the seal was the so-called deputy zs[ihafé]
tle’ezaz], Gibri-Wild. He was principal secretary in the Ministry of Pen
before 1936. During the Italian Occupation, his former boss Ts[ihafé]
Tle’ezaz] W[aldd]-Misqal and himself served in what was known as Taglay
Biro®® as birwdddad and principal secretary, respectively. He took Franca for

his model and had a hybrid character. He had stated that, at Chifé Dinsa, he

52 Mahtimi-Sellasé Wildi-Misqal, holder of various ministerial portfolios in the Hayli-
Sellasé regime and author of the highly invaluable source book, Zekri Nigér.

3 sing. baldiriba, a person assigned to attend to one’s petition or complaint.

>* Mirs’e-Hazin Wildi-Qirqos, court favourite and author of the standard book on
Ambaric grammar.

3> Tamrat Yegizu, made endirasé of Kifa in the July 1955 shum sher.

56 Youngest of the Habtd-Wild brothers, Vice-Minister of Education, to which he had added
the post of Vice-Minister of Community Development in the July 1955 shum sher.

37 A reference to Kibbidi Tisimma.

38 Presumably Wildi-Giyorgis’s personal assistant.

39 «Ufficio Generale”(?), the office set up during the Ttalian Occupation to deal with
Ethiopian affairs in the capital.
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had slapped and chased a patriot by the name of Shambil Astaw when the

latter wept on being asked to carry his machine gun and see him off.*°

To return to my fate, Abund Téwoflos®! came and visited me during my
illness. He came after an audience with Janhoy!!! I felt well and went out.
Janhoy expressed his sorrow when he saw how much I had changed. I re-
turned to rest.

On leaving the Gebbi, I went to Abund Basilios. He had asked to come to
my house. He explained to me Janhoy’s feelings. I asked him to arrange an
audience for me. He promised to do that.

On Miyazya 27 [May 5], I went for the celebration. I stood as per the former
protocol. M[ikonnen] H[abta] W[ild] was next to me. I asked him why he
had not congratulated me. He replied that those who came [to my house] had
to return [apparently because of the large crowd]. He did not wish to talk to
me. I said to him: “In that case, I will come to your house to congratulate you”.

During the reception in the evening, I stood in the place designated for
governors-general, next to the rases. I shared a table with the British ambassa-
dor. The evening was mercifully over and we went home.

On Friday, Miyazya 28 [May 6], I had an audience with Janhoy in the
presence of the echigé.®? This was what I said to him:

1. T asked him for his kindness.

2. 1 thanked him because both my appointment and my dismissal were told
to me like a child.

3. As for the statement that I had paid no regard to his displeasure, I had no
inkling of what was out of the norm.

4. How could T suspect [that anything was amiss] when I did not fail to get
what I was used to getting, when I was remembered during fast and not for-
gotten during feast (Christmas), when I was not passed [royal] munificence?
Would I not otherwise have sacrificed myself to remove such displeasure?

5. I even went further and said that I had thought that my strivings to im-
prove the workings of the Ministry of Justice had pleased [Janhoy].

6. I replied that when I said that I would point it out in London, I was only
trying to talk about government affairs in exiles’ code.®

7. Isaid that since I and your other subjects live trusting in fair judgement,

please ensure that injustice will not be perpetrated in your name.

0The Amharic is ambiguous here.

1The second high-ranking bishop at the time and who eventually succeeded Abundi
Basilios as patriarch of the Ethiopian Orthodox Church.

62 A title historically reserved to the Ethiopian subordinate of the Coptic archbishop,
apparently continued to be borne by Abund Basilios even after he became archbishop.

63 An allusion to the period of the emperor’s exile in Bath, England, from 1936 to 1940,
when Wilda-Giyorgis was by his side as his private secretary.
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8.Nothing is more precious for me than to avoid seeing anything bad hap-
pen to Janhoy and being the cause for any displeasure.

9.As I have repeatedly said in the past, I pray not to come to a time when I
will have to say: “Were this not to happen!”¢*

10.1 explained that I was willing to sacrifice myself in any way in order to
spare Janhoy pain and being forced to dwell on my private affairs.

11.Taking the example of Ras Kasa, I explained that, once Janhoy has turned
against someone, nobody would bother to look back at him, let alone [an
ordinary mortal like me]. I reminded him of my statement that those who
pretended to like me at Brown Hotel were actually doing it for themselves.

12.1 asked if there was anyone, other than Naggadras Afawirq® and Azazh
Wirqenih®, for whom I had not interceded to get Janhoy’s clemency,
even when that person happened to have crossed me at some point .

13.Unless I deemed it to be totally destructive, I have felt it meritorious not
to disclose someone’s misdeeds, as that would estrange lord from servant
(R.%” unlike Ato Mikonnen HW and Aklilu HW, etc.).

14.Janhoy knows very well that my service to My Lord and defense of His
well-being has earned me quite a few enemies (R. such as B[it]w[dddid)]
Andargé).

15.Janhoy’s government is a government to which I have given my father, my
brother, and my son, and to which I have sacrificed myself unstintingly.
The fate of my family was exile during the enemy occupation. I plead for
some consideration lest they suffer the same fate of exile during Janhoy’s
reign, for lack of a protector.

16. Against my better judgement, I was a creature who trusted that Janhoy
knows me more than God. But I do not dispute Janhoy’s right to take
away the trust he had reposed in me.

17.Janhoy would not lack a servant; but I would not find a master.

I do not ask you to like me now, only not to hate me;
I do not expect you to trust me, only not to suspect me;
I do not ask you to feel sorry for me, only not to be too cruel on me.

6% A rather astute prognosis of the 1974 débacle.

65 Afiwirq Gibri-Tyyisus, a vitriolic intellectual of the pre-1935 period, who was incar-
cerated in 1941 because of his collaboration with the Italians.

66 Wirgenih Eshité, another prominent intellectual of the early twentieth century, who
was Ethiopian minister (ambassador) in London when the Italians invaded Ethiopia in
1935. Estranged from the emperor during his exile, Wirqenah retired to India and pro-
longed his return to Ethiopia after liberation in 1941.

7 The meaning of this initial, which recurs further down, is obscure.
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Today is a day when my thirty-five year long career has come to naught.
Please do not turn your face against me, as I was your servant in your hour of
distress and sorrow. I need your countenance more than any of your gifts.

Janhoy then responded, saying: “There is a legacy of thirty-six years of ser-
vice between us. How could We know that this was the intent of what you
said in London; We are not an angel. As for your fear of a person destroying
you, you yourself are a person; so take care that you do not destroy yourself.
Everything will be revealed in your future work.”

How can I work under the burden of Janhoy’s displeasure, for that would
banish me as well as the work. Abund Basilios intervened to say that what Jan-
hoy said was as good as granting clemency. But I insisted that it be clarified.

Janhoy then went on: “Your past service cannot be erased. The work that
you have submitted recently to improve the operations of the Ministry of
Justice is also very useful. It will be implemented. Alright, We will not darken
our face against you. Our Father [i.e. Abund Basilios] could bear witness that,
when we became estranged, I told him to feel sorry for me as it was like being
estranged from God. So, it is up to you: you could either distance yourself or
you could feel at home as in the past.”

After that, I bowed and took my leave with instructions to submit a memo
detailing my needs for the journey.

[I submitted?] my request on Saturday, Miyazya 29 [May 6], and on Mon-
day, Genbot 1 [May 8], Ts[dhaf¢] T{e’ezaz] Tafarrawirq and Ato Gabri-Wild
came to the clay house®® and Gibrid-Wild communicated to me what has been
decided on every issue.

[During the Italian Occupation,] Gibri-Wild was the spokesman of Nasi®’
and Franca and Birwdddid Wildi-Misqal was secretary at Tédglay Biro. To-
day, Gibri-Wild [becomes] the transmitter of Janhoy’s order to me. In order
not to disturb still water, I limited myself to saying that I shall render my
obeisance to Janhoy. I was summoned forthwith and I rendered my obeisance
and withdrew. When I stated that the soldiers [detailed to accompany me?]
numbered only 20, I was told to raise the issue on another occasion.

Thereafter, until Friday, Genbot 5 [May 13], I stayed at home making my
preparations. Many friends and relatives came to my house and wept, think-
ing that I was hurt; they have not fathomed the inside story.

%8 Another ambiguous reference.
%9 General Guglielmo Nasi, successively governor of Harir, deputy viceroy and gover-
nor of Shawa during the Italian Occupation.
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Friday, Genbot 5 [May 13]

I went to the Gebbi in the morning. I made a request to bid farewell. I was
summoned immediately. I said the following words; there were only the
two of us:

“I [have come] to bid farewell since the time of my departure has arrived.”
Janhoy enquired if everything has been ready for me and as to when I am
leaving. I said that I was planning to leave tomorrow, Saturday, and went on:

“I beg leave to speak freely today as it is the time of my departure,
since whether we are ever going to meet again is in God’s hands.
Even if you might not believe it, I sad leave to part from Janhoy’s
face that I have always longed for and yet happy to fulfill his wish.”

1. While happy to fulfill [the imperial] wish, I am saddened that the repri-
mand has been communicated to me through Gibri-Waild er al. T believe
that Janhoy would wish to correct me in a way that you deemed fit, not
to pass a death sentence on me. I submitted the paper [because] at a time
when D[djjazmach] Takkild’®, whom I considered to have wronged his
country because he wronged Janhoy, is in charge of Ethiopia’s administra-
tion, I was not given enough troops to protect me.

2. T have got what Fate has decreed for me. But I beseech you not to trust
people. Everybody is after his own interest. I say this because I have seen
signs ... M[dkonnen] H[abta]-W[ald].

3.1 returned 9 machine guns: 1 water-cooled and 8 mounted on tripod.
Since I do not have even one for my protection, I ask for one tripod-
mounted machine gun of Czech make. (This was given to me.)

4. I revealed that Ddjjach Tidla Bayru had come to my house and talked to
me and that he had earlier expressed to Janhoy his wish to do so.

5. I requested that, since he is my relative, Shiferaw be authorized to guard
my house and that his superiors be instructed accordingly so that he may
not have any worries. (This has been consented to.)

Then I asked permission to take leave of Her Majesty, Etégé’’. I did so in
the presence of Abba Hanna.

I spent the rest of the day preparing for my journey and meeting those
who came to bid me farewell.

70 Another enemy of Wildi-Giyorgis, although no particular friend of Emperor Hayli-
Sellasé, either; he was made Vice-Minister of Interior in charge of administration in
the May 1955 shum sher.

"UThe traditional title (female counterpart of Janhoy) by which the Emperor’s wife,
Minnin, was referred.
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Saturday, Genbot 8 [May 16]

In the morning, in addition to attending Mass at the Trinity Cathedral, I
took leave of Emahoy Midené, Ras Adifersiw, Abuni Téwoflos and
Abund Basilios. When I reached my house, there was a large crowd weep-
ing. I took leave of them and left. Fitawrari Tsihayu’? and his mother,
Wayziro Feqertd, Fitawrari Tasfayé, Ahmid” and his son saw me off be-
yond Nifas Selk’* and returned in grief.

Abund Téwotlos was extremely sad. He revealed to me that he spoke with
Janhoy in tears when he had met him before he came to my house.

On this day, at 6 in the evening, I reached Asilla.”” The town greeted me
with ululations. The elders and workers who had accompanied me were treated
to drinks. [Soldiers of the Imperial Bodyguard had entered Asilla before me.]

Summary

The fall in 1955 of Tsihafé Te’ezaz Wildi-Giyorgis Waldi-Yohannes was an event of
special importance in the political history of imperial Ethiopia. For nearly a decade and a
half after 1941, Walda-Giyorgis had exercised power and influence second only to that
of Emperor Hayli-Sellasé. Yet, this very power and influence seems to have contributed
to his undoing. Those who were shunted aside or feared his growing powers joined
forces to estrange him from the emperor and bring about his downfall. The document
printed here provides a personal account of the central character, Walda-Giyorgis him-
self, on the buildup to the final moment in May 1955, when he was removed from his
powerful position to that of a provincial governor. It underscores the central role played
in that downfall by his erstwhile ally, Mikonnen Habti-Wald, as well as the attempt of
Church authorities to mediate between the emperor and the powerful minister. Above
all, the document gives us a rare insight into the relationship between emperor and min-
ister and the trauma that the breach represented to both. Further, the outward decorum
and civility that pervaded the entire proceedings of what must have been a grave political
crisis provides a striking contrast to the brusqueness, not to say brutality, with which
political opponents — real or imagined — were disposed of in post-1974 Ethiopia.

72 Tsihayu Enqwi-Sellasé, a renowned patriot and notorious provincial governor, killed
when he refused to surrender to the Dirg in 1974.

73 Probably a reference to a member of the Kékiyan family.

74The southern outskirts of Addis Ababa, which acquired its name from the wireless
station set up there in 1935.

75 Capital of Arusi, as it was then known.

53 Aethiopica 7 (2004)



